### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KIMBERLY BRABSON, II	I,
Petitioner,	
VS.	Case No. SC09-136
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Respondent.	
On Review from t	the District Court of Appeal, Second District State of Florida
PETITIO:	NER'S JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

James E. Felman
Florida Bar No. 775568
Katherine Earle Yanes
Florida Bar No. 159727
KYNES, MARKMAN & FELMAN, P.A.
Post Office Box 3396
Tampa, FL 33601-3396
Telephone: (813) 229-1118

Attorneys for Petitioner Kimberly Brabson

# **

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT			
ARGUMENT			
I.	The Second District's decision expressly and directly conflicts with the Fourth District's opinion in <i>Lockwood v. State.</i>		
	A.	Lockwood and Fletcher hold as a matter of law that innocent conduct of the type depicted here is not "sexual conduct."	
	B.	An image's lewdness does not depend on its producer's intent	
CONCLUSION			
CERTIFIC	CATE C	OF SERVICE	
CERTIFIC	CATE C	OF COMPLIANCE WITH FONT STANDARDS	
APPENDI	X		

# **TABLE OF CITATIONS**

<u>PAGE(S)</u>
Fletcher v. State, 787 So. 2d 232 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001)
Lockwood v. State, 588 So. 2d 57 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991)
Schmitt v. State, 590 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 1991)
United States v. Amirault, 173 F.3d 28 (1st Cir. 1999)
<i>United States v. Dost</i> , 636 F. Supp. 828 (S.D. Cal. 1986)
United States v. Villard, 885 F.2d 117 (3rd Cir. 1989)
<u>STATUTES</u>
Fla. Stat. § 810.14(1)
Fla. Stat. § 810.145(2)(a)
Fla. Stat. § 827.071

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The Petitioner, Kimberly Brabson, III, seeks discretionary review of the opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal<sup>1</sup> in this case, attached as an Appendix ("App."). Brabson was charged with 19 counts of promoting a sexual performance by a child, in violation of Fla. Stat. § 827.071(3). App. 3. Brabson was a school swim coach. App. 2. He asked a number of female students to try on swimsuits in his office. *Id.* Without the students' knowledge, Brabson had placed a video camera in the office that recorded the students changing into swimsuits and then redressing. *Id.* 

The Second District reversed the trial court's order dismissing the charges of promoting a sexual performance by a child. App 15. The charges were based on the theory that the videotape depicted "sexual conduct by a child" by showing an "actual lewd exhibition of the genitals." App. 4-5. The Second District held that the determination of whether images of students changing into and out of swimsuits depict "sexual conduct" is "a factual inquiry for a jury and not a legal question for the court." App. 2. It held that the "lewdness" necessary to make an exhibition of the genitals "sexual conduct" under § 827.071 "may be satisfied by the intent of the person

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Following the recusal of the entire Second District Court of Appeal from this case, a panel of judges from the Third District was appointed and decided the appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The trial court also dismissed the § 827.071(3) charges on the second ground that there were no genitals exhibited on the videotape. The appellate opinion reverses without noting or addressing this independent ground for the trial court's dismissal.

promoting" the child's performance. App. 7. Brabson's notice to invoke the Court's discretionary jurisdiction was timely filed on January 23, 2009.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Second District's holding that images of students trying on swimsuits can be deemed to depict "sexual conduct" expressly and directly conflicts with the Fourth District's opinion in *Lockwood v. State*, 588 So. 2d 57 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). It also conflicts with the Second District's opinion in *Fletcher v. State*, 787 So. 2d 232 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001). *Lockwood* and *Fletcher* hold that innocent conduct such as dressing and undressing is not "sexual conduct" under § 827.071. 588 So. 2d at 58; 787 So. 2d at 235. In further conflict with *Lockwood* and *Fletcher*, the holding that images of students trying on swimsuits could be "lewd" rests on the premise that the producer's lewd intent can transform images of otherwise innocent conduct into a "sexual performance." This premise is inconsistent with the plain language of § 827.071, which provides that the nature of conduct depicted—not the intent of the person recording it—determines whether a performance is "sexual conduct."

# **ARGUMENT**

I. The Second District's decision expressly and directly conflicts with the Fourth District's opinion in *Lockwood v. State*.

The Second District's decision expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Fourth District in *Lockwood v. State*, 588 So. 2d 57 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), as

well as the Second District's own opinion in *Fletcher v. State*, 787 So. 2d 232 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001), in its interpretation of "sexual conduct" under § 827.071. Section 827.071(3) prohibits producing, directing, or promoting "any performance which includes sexual conduct by a child less than 18 years of age." The statute defines "sexual conduct" to include, among other things, "actual lewd exhibition of the genitals." § 827.071(1)(g). Both *Lockwood* and *Fletcher* hold as a matter of law that images of minors dressing and undressing are not "sexual conduct" under § 827.071. 588 So. 2d at 58; 787 So. 2d at 235. Here, the Second District held to the contrary that whether images of students trying on swimsuits depict sexual conduct is a factual question. The Second District's distinction of *Lockwood* and *Fletcher* on the theory that the legal significance of an image varies with the mental state of its producer is inconsistent with the plain language of the statute.

# A. Lockwood and Fletcher hold as a matter of law that innocent conduct of the type depicted here is not "sexual conduct."

The Second District's opinion expressly and directly conflicts with *Lockwood*, as well as *Fletcher*, because those cases held as a matter of law that images that are not distinguishable in any material respect from the images here did not depict "sexual conduct." The defendant in *Lockwood* possessed videotapes depicting "a sixteen-year-old girl (who was apparently unaware of the filming) undressing, showering, toweling herself dry, and performing other acts of feminine hygiene and donning clothing." 588

So. 2d at 57. The Fourth District reversed the denial of the defendant's motion for a judgment of acquittal as to § 827.071 charges because the videotape did not depict "sexual conduct as defined by the statute," but rather "innocent, normal everyday occurrence[s]." *Id.* at 58.

In *Fletcher*, a search warrant was issued based on allegations that the defendant had hidden video cameras in a bedroom and bathroom used by his daughters. 787 So. 2d at 233. The Second District held these allegations were insufficient to establish probable cause that the defendant violated § 827.071 because there was no evidence the "cameras could have captured anything more than innocent conduct such as children using the toilet, dressing, and bathing." *Id.* at 235.

Like *Fletcher* and *Lockwood*, this case involves children engaged in normal, innocent conduct. This case and *Lockwood* presented the same issue: whether the State established a prima facie case of guilt. Just as the State failed to establish a prima facie case in *Lockwood* because depictions of a girl showering, dressing, and undressing are not of "sexual conduct," the State's case against Brabson fails because trying on swimsuits is not "sexual conduct." Likewise, *Fletcher* found the allegation of videotaping innocent conduct such as dressing and bathing to be insufficient to establish probable cause to believe depictions of "sexual conduct" were being created. 787 So. 2d at 235. Trying on swimsuits is equally innocent conduct and as a matter of law under *Lockwood* and *Fletcher* is not "sexual conduct."

### B. An image's lewdness does not depend on its producer's intent.

The distinction the Second District draws between this case and *Fletcher* and *Lockwood* – and the crux of its holding that a factual question exists as to whether the videotape depicts "sexual conduct" – rests on the premise that the intent of the producer of a depiction rather than the nature of the conduct depicted determines whether an image is "lewd." App. 9-12. This premise is inconsistent with the plain language of

§ 827.071. Moreover, the Second District's interpretation of this Court's opinion in *Schmitt v. State*, 590 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 1991), App. 7, 12, to mean that the producer's intent may transform a depiction of innocent conduct into a "sexual performance" is a misreading of *Schmitt*.

The plain language of § 827.071(3) establishes that whether an exhibition of the genitals is "lewd" depends not on the intent of the image's producer, but on the nature of the conduct depicted. The statute prohibits promoting "any performance which includes sexual conduct *by a child*." (Emphasis added). The relevant definition of "sexual conduct" is the "actual lewd exhibition of the genitals." § 827.071(1)(g). This Court stated in *Schmitt* that "[u]nder Florida criminal law," lewdness "require[s] an intentional act of sexual indulgence or public indecency." 590 So. 2d at 410. Because there was no "public indecency" here, the videotape depicted a "sexual performance by a child" only if it showed an "exhibition of the genitals" "by a child" in a "lewd" – that

is, sexually indulgent – manner. Nothing in the language of the statute suggests the intent of the image's producer affects whether the image is lewd.

Florida's "voyeurism" and "video voyeurism" statutes address the conduct of secretly videotaping another with lewd intent. At the time relevant to this case, Fla. Stat. § 810.14(1) (2005) provided that a person commits "voyeurism" by "with lewd, lascivious, or indecent intent, secretly" observing or recording a person when that person has a reasonable expectation of privacy. Similarly, the "video voyeurism" statute, Fla. Stat. § 810.145(2)(a), prohibits secretly recording for a person's own "sexual arousal" or "gratification" another person "who is dressing, undressing, or privately exposing the body, ... when that person has a reasonable expectation of privacy." Section 827.071, by contrast, does not include the phrases found in the voyeurism statutes, such as "with lewd, lascivious, or indecent intent" or "for his or her own ... sexual arousal [or] gratification," but instead provides that it is the "exhibition of the genitals" "by a child" that must be "lewd" to violate that statute.

The Second District's opinion, however, interprets this Court's opinion in *Schmitt* to mean that "the lewdness requirement under section 827.071(1)(g) may be satisfied by the intent of the person promoting the performance which included sexual conduct by the child." App. 7; *see also* App. 12. That is not *Schmitt*'s holding.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Brabson was also charged with 11 counts of voyeurism that remain pending.

Schmitt involved a search warrant based on allegations that the defendant had taken nude photographs of his daughter, videotaped his daughter and a woman "stripping down to their panties," and videotaped his daughter swimming nude. 590 So. 2d at 408. The defendant argued the allegations of the warrant did not establish probable cause for the search. *Id.* at 409. The Court noted that Schmitt's conduct indicated he "did not treat the nudity of himself, his daughter, and others in the offhand, natural manner that might be expected if the conduct were purely innocent" but rather "made nudity a central and almost obsessive object of his attention." Id. at 411. For that reason, the Court held probable cause existed to believe "that Schmitt's conduct toward his daughter included the 'lewdness' element required by the statute." Id. It concluded that, "While nudity alone would not have sufficed, this overall focus of Schmitt's conduct tended to show a lewd intent and thus created a substantial basis for believing that the search would fairly probably yield evidence of a violation of section 827.071." *Id*.

The Second District's opinion analogizes this case to *Schmitt*, and attempts to distinguish it from *Fletcher* and *Lockwood*, on the theory that Brabson's positioning of the camera resulting in waist-level images in some portions of the videotape shows "nudity and female genitalia were the focus of Brabson's filming." App. 9-10. In interpreting *Schmitt* to mean that Brabson's "focus" could determine the lewdness of the images depicted, App. 7, 12, the Second District fails to appreciate the critical

procedural distinction between this case and Schmitt. The issue in Schmitt was whether probable cause existed to believe a person – known to have photographed and videotaped a nude child - might knowingly possess images of a child engaged in "sexual conduct" that might be discovered through the execution of a search warrant. The case did not address whether particular known images in fact depicted "sexual conduct." Schmitt held that the defendant's "lewd intent" could be relevant to the former issue. 590 So. 2d at 511. Had the State sought a warrant to search Brabson's office based on the videotape, a reasonable court might well have found probable cause to support such a search. But here, Brabson challenges not whether the videotape might support the issuance of a warrant to seize other images but whether the videotape itself depicts "sexual conduct." Under the clear holdings of Fletcher and Lockwood, it does not, and neither Schmitt nor any other case holds that the alleged "intent" of the producer of a video depiction determines whether the contents of the depiction constitute "sexual conduct."

The Second District also sought to distinguish *Fletcher* and *Lockwood* because the minors in those cases were videotaped in bedrooms or bathrooms, locations where activities such as showering or dressing ordinarily occur. App. 11. This case is different, according to the Second District's opinion, because Brabson "orchestrated" a plan to videotape students "in a place where, but for Brabson's machinations, they would never have undressed." *Id.* The location in which the students tried on

swimsuits, and whether they chose that location, does nothing to change the factor that *Fletcher* and *Lockwood* hold matters: the nature of the conduct. Trying on swimsuits in private is simply not "sexual conduct" because it is not "lewd." Moreover, directing students to try on swimsuits in a particular location is hardly comparable to the *Schmitt* defendant's posing his daughter for photographs and videotaping her "stripping." More significantly, directing nude poses or stripping suggest a level of choreography that could create probable cause to believe the resulting images might involve an "actual lewd exhibition of the genitals." In this case, there was no posing and unlike *Schmitt*, the issue here is not whether there was probable cause for a search, but whether the fruits of a search violate § 827.071.

The Second District also held that application of the test set forth in *United States v. Dost*, 636 F. Supp. 828 (S.D. Cal. 1986), which is applied in many jurisdictions to determine whether an image is lewd or lascivious for purposes of child pornography statutes, establishes that the State has made a prima facie case against Brabson. The Second District's reliance on the *Dost* test conflicts with its holding that the lewdness of images may depend on their producer's intent. *Dost* holds that a determination as to whether an image of a child is "lascivious," and therefore criminal under the federal child pornography statute, should be based on the "content of the visual depiction," 636 F. Supp. at 832 – not the intent of the image's producer. Cases applying *Dost* hold that the focus in determining whether an image is lascivious

"should be on the objective criteria of the [image's] design," not the "actual effect" of the images on a particular defendant. *United States v. Amirault*, 173 F.3d 28, 34-35 (1st Cir. 1999); *see also United States v. Villard*, 885 F.2d 117, 125 (3rd Cir. 1989) ("Child pornography is not created when the pedophile derives sexual enjoyment from an otherwise innocent photo.... We must, therefore, look at the photograph, rather than the viewer."). To hold otherwise, the *Amirault* court pointed out, would overly broaden the reach of the statute – if the defendant's "subjective reaction were relevant, a sexual deviant's quirks could turn a Sears catalog into pornography." 173 F.3d at 34.

As *Amirault* describes, it will now be impossible in the Second District to know whether an image of otherwise innocent conduct could be treated as child pornography without knowing the intent of the image's creator. Possession of a photograph of a child at bathtime – present in many family photo albums – could be criminal depending on whether its creator was a proud parent or a deviant family friend. This result conflicts with the holdings in *Lockwood* and *Fletcher*, is inconsistent with the plain language of the statute, and misreads *Schmitt*.

# **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated above, this Court should exercise its discretion to accept review of the Second District's decision.