IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KIMBERLY BRABSON, III,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

RESPONDENT.

CASE NO.: SC09-136

DCA NO: 2D07-5619

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM
THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
STATE OF FLORIDA

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

BILL McCOLLUM
ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS
Chief-Assistant Attorney General
Bureau Chief, Tampa Criminal
Appeals
Florida Bar No. 238538

ELBA C. MARTIN-SCHOMAKER
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 513342
Concourse Center 4
3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
(813)287-7900
Fax (813)281-5500

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The pertinent history and facts are set out in the decision of the lower tribunal in State v. Brabson, 2008 WL 5352873 (Fla. App. 2nd Dist. December 24, 2008). (See Appendix).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner fails to establish conflict jurisdiction between the Second District's opinion in Brabson, supra, and the Fourth District's opinion in Lockwood. Moreover, the instant opinion does not "expressly and directly" conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the Supreme Court on the same question of law. The well-reasoned, exhaustive decision of the Second District Court of Appeal presents a case in which this Court should respect the role of the District Courts of Appeal as the courts of last resort in Florida. Therefore, this Court should decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction where Petitioner has failed to identify and demonstrate any credible basis for this Court to revisit the Second District's opinion.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN STATE V. BRABSON, 2008 WL 5352873 (FLA. APP. 2 DIST. DECEMBER 24, 2008), EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH LOCKWOOD V. STATE, 588 SO.2D 57 (4TH DCA 1991)?

Petitioner attempts to invoke this Court's jurisdiction based on express and direct conflict. This Court has authority as the highest court of the State to resolve legal conflicts created by the district courts of appeal. Article V, §3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution authorizes this Court to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or with a decision of the Florida Supreme Court. This Court has held that review under Article V, §3(b)(3), Florida Constitution, requiring express and direct conflict, is unavailable "where the opinion below establishes no point of law contrary to a decision of th[e Supreme] Court [of Florida] or other district court." The Florida Bar v. B.J.F. 530 So.2d 286, 289 (Fla. 1988). The issue of the Court's jurisdiction is a "threshold matter that must be addressed" before the Court can reach the merits of the issue. In Re Holder, 945 So.2d 1130, 1134 Fla. 2006).

The rationale for limiting this Court's jurisdiction is the

recognition that district courts “are courts primarily of final appellate jurisdiction and to allow such courts to become intermediate courts of appeal would result in a condition far more detrimental to the general welfare and the speedy and efficient administration of justice than that which the system was designed to remedy.” Jenkins v. State, 385 So.2d 1356, 1358 (Fla. 1980).

As this Court explained in B.J.F., the state constitution creates two separate concepts regarding this Court’s discretionary review. 530 So. 2d at 288. The first concept is the broad general grant of subject-matter jurisdiction. The second, more limited concept, is a constitutional command as to how this Court may exercise its discretion in accepting jurisdiction. Id. at 288.

Furthermore, in order for this Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction based on *express or direct* conflict, the conflict must appear on the face of the allegedly conflicting opinions. Reaves v. State, 485 So.2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). Additionally, the only facts relevant to the issue of whether there is direct and express conflict are the facts contained within the four corners of the majority opinion of the allegedly conflicting cases. Id. As this Court stated in Reaves:

The only facts relevant to our decision to accept or reject such petitions [based on alleged conflict] are those facts contained within the four corners of the decisions allegedly in conflict. As we explain in the text above, we are not permitted to base our conflict jurisdiction on a review of the record or on facts recited only in dissenting opinions. Thus, it is pointless and misleading to include a comprehensive recitation of facts not appearing in the decision below, with citations to the record, as petitioner provided here.

Id. at 830, n3.

I. The Brabson opinion does not expressly and directly conflict with Lockwood.

Respondent submits that Lockwood v. State, 588 So.2d 57 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) is factually and procedurally distinguishable from the instant matter and, therefore, this is no express and direct conflict. In Lockwood, the Fourth District found that a video tape showing a sixteen year old girl undressing, showering, toweling herself dry, and performing other acts of feminine hygiene and donning clothing did not meet definition of sexual conduct as defined by Section 827.071(1)(g), Florida Statutes (1989) and, therefore, a motion for judgment of acquittal should have been granted. Id. at 57-58.

The presentation shows, rather, the innocent, normal everyday occurrence of a female child undressing, showering, performing acts of female hygiene and donning her clothes,

none of which meets any of the detailed sexual acts contained in the statute.

Id. at 58.

However, in this case, unlike in Lockwood, the videotape does not show normal, everyday activities of a female child. The videotape, in this case, shows girls changing into bathing suits after being manipulated into trying on the suits in Appellant's office as opposed to a normal, everyday place at a school such as a locker room. Moreover, the procedural posture of this case is a motion to dismiss, not a motion for judgment of acquittal as in Lockwood.

Importantly, the Second District Court of Appeal distinguished Lockwood from this case in its opinion. The Second District found,

In *Lockwood* and *Fletcher*, the cameras were apparently placed in static locations and videotaped the nude victims in everyday activities, such as showering or dressing, occurring in bedrooms or bathrooms where such activities normally occur. In the instant case, Brabson placed the camera in his school office. Brabson then lured the girls to his office, where they otherwise would not have been undressing and changing into bathing suits, but for Brabson's cajoling. Furthermore, the victims seem to have been enticed to change in the office with the intent that their nude bodies be visible to the camera and recorded. What we have before us is a clearly orchestrated plan by Brabson

to videotape unsuspecting underage girls in a place where, but for Brabson's machinations, they would never have undressed.

(Appendix, pg. 11). Therefore, the Second District has sufficiently distinguished Lockwood, and there is no express and direct conflict.

II. The Brabson opinion does not directly and expressly conflict with Fletcher

The Florida Constitution, article V, section 3(b)(3), authorizes this Court to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of **another district court of appeal** or with a decision of the **Florida Supreme Court**. Fletcher, however, was decided by the Second District Court of Appeal and, therefore, there can be no express and direct conflict with this Court or another district court pursuant to Article V, §3(b)(3), Florida Constitution. Fletcher v. State, 787 So.2d 232 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001). Petitioner's remedy for intra-district conflict would have been a motion for rehearing under Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.330 and 9.331.

In addition, under Rule 9.120(d), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, a petitioner's brief is limited solely to the issue of this Court's jurisdiction. However, Petitioner has failed to abide by this singular requirement. While ostensibly

submitting a jurisdictional brief, Petitioner has instead raised various merits arguments taken from his "innocent conduct" claims in the District Court.

In Florida, the District Courts of Appeal are not intended to be just preliminary or "intermediate" appellate courts. See Jenkins, 385 So.2d at 1358, citing, Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So.2d 808, 810 (Fla. 1958); see also Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, Committee Notes, 1980 Amendment ("The district courts of appeal will constitute the courts of last resort for the vast majority of litigants under amended article V."); John M. Scheb, Florida's Courts of Appeal: Intermediate Courts Become Final, 13 Stetson L. Rev. 479 (1984). Here, the well reasoned, exhaustive majority opinion presents a case in which this Court should respect the role of the District Court of Appeal as the court of last resort in Florida.

III. The Brabson opinion does not directly and expressly conflict with Schmitt and the Second District did not misread Schmitt.

Petitioner alleges the Second District Court of Appeal misread Schmitt v. State, 590 So.2d 404 (Fla. 1991), in its opinion. However, even if the Court misread Schmitt, which the Respondent disputes, this does not establish direct and express conflict as contemplated by Article V, §3(b)(3) of the Florida

Constitution. See also B.J.F., 530 So.2d at 289. And, furthermore, the Second District did not misread Schmitt. The Second District's opinion is consistent with Schmitt holding:

While it is conceivable that one might view the allegations in the present affidavit as depicting simple nudity, we believe the magistrate had a substantial basis for concluding otherwise. The affidavit's factual allegations indicated that Schmitt did not treat the nudity of himself, his daughter, and others in the offhand, natural manner that might be expected if the conduct were purely innocent—for example, if they were nudists. Rather, the affidavit shows he made nudity a central and almost obsessive object of his attention. Thus, the magistrate reasonably could have believed that Schmitt's conduct toward his daughter included the "lewdness" element required by the statute. While nudity alone would not have sufficed, this overall focus of Schmitt's conduct tended to show a lewd intent and thus created a substantial basis for believing that the search would fairly probably yield evidence of a violation of section 827.071.

Schmitt, 590 So.2d at 411. Similarly, the Second District in this case found like Schmitt:

In the instant case, as demonstrated by the defendant's videotapes, nudity and female genitalia were the focus of Brabson's filming. The second portion of the videotape shows that Brabson positioned the camera at waist-level and placed the bathing suits in relation to the camera in such a way that the victims' genitalia became the focal point of the recording.

(Appendix, pg. 9-10). Petitioner fails to establish conflict.

IV. The Brabson opinion does not directly and expressly conflict with Dost pursuant to Article V, §3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution.

As argued above, the opinion in this case must expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another district court or with a decision of this Court. See Article V, §3(b)(3), Florida Constitution. As such Petitioner has failed to demonstrate express and direct conflict with United States v. Dost, 636 F.Supp. 828 (S.D. Cal. 1986).

Also, Petitioner relies upon a case which is not cited in the instant opinion, United States v. Amiraut, 173 F.3d 28 (1st Cir. 1999) and again attempts to argue the merits. See Reaves, 485 So. 2d at 829; See also Persaud v. State, 835 So.2d 529 (Fla. 2003); Rule 9.120(d), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

In sum, Petitioner has failed to demonstrate that the Brabson opinion by the Second District Court of Appeal is in direct and express conflict with Lockwood. Additionally, the Second District did not misread Schmitt. Further, the Brabson opinion is not in direct and express conflict with Fletcher and Dost because they are not opinions from another district court or this Court.

CONCLUSION

Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court deny jurisdiction in this case.